
 

 

National Park Authority  - 10 March 2023 1 

 

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY 

 

 

Dear Member 

A meeting of the NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY will be held on FRIDAY, 10TH 

MARCH, 2023 AT 10.00 AM when your attendance is requested. 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

Catherine Mealing-Jones 

Chief Executive 

 

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY BROADCASTS ALL  

PUBLIC MEETINGS LIVE ON YOUTUBE 

 

  www.youtube.com/BreconBeaconsNPA 

 

Please ensure you mute your microphone during the meeting until the Chair 

invites you to speak.   

Should there be a comfort break during the meeting please ensure your 

microphone is on mute and that your camera is switched off. 

 

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 To receive apologies for absence 

2  CORRESPONDENCE  

 To receive correspondence as, in the opinion of the Chair, is of such urgency 

as to warrant consideration 

  

Public Document Pack



 

 

 

 

National Park Authority  - 10 March 2023 2 

 

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items on the 

agenda.  Members’ attention is drawn to the sheet attached to the attendance 

sheet and the need to record their declarations verbally and in writing, 

specifying the nature of the interest. 

  

If Members have declared an interest in an item please ensure that you 

inform the Chair when you are leaving the room, so that this can be 

recorded in the minutes. 

  

4  MINUTES  

 To approve the following minutes and authorise the Chair to sign them as a 

correct record: 

-       25 November 2022 

-       16 December 2022 EGM 

-       7 February 2023 EGM 

  

5  PUBLIC SPEAKING  

 To give opportunity for members of the public to address the meeting in 

accordance with the Authority’s Public Speaking Scheme. 

 

6  CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 To receive a verbal report on meetings and events attended by the Chair since 

the last meeting of the Authority. 

  

7  CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 To receive a report from the Chief Executive on meetings attended and 

progress made on Authority business since the last meeting of the Authority. 

  

8  INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL FOR WALES - 

ANNUAL REPORT (Pages 5 - 48) 

9  2023/24 REVENUE AND CAPITAL ESTIMATES, AND 

PROJECTIONS FOR THE FOLLOWING TWO YEARS 2024-26  



 

 

 

 

National Park Authority  - 10 March 2023 3 

 

10  URGENT BUSINESS  

 Business that the Chair considers of sufficient urgency and has been notified in 

advance. 

  

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Brecon Beacons National Park 

National Park Authority 1 25 November 2022 

 

 

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY NATIONAL 

PARK AUTHORITY HELD ON FRIDAY, 25TH NOVEMBER, 2022 

 

 

 

PRESENT: 

 

Cllr G Ratcliffe (Deputy Chair) 

Cllr I McIntosh  

Cllr W Powell  

Cllr H Williams  

Cllr E Jones 

Cllr A Davies 

Cllr S Emanuel 

Cllr L Cowles 

Cllr P Baldwin 

Mr Julian Stedman 

 

In Attendance 
 

Mr Rotimi Akinsiku, Program and Portfolio Manager 

Mr Gareth Jones, Director of Planning and Place 

Stephanie Davies, Democratic Services Manager 

Mrs Gemma Turner 

Ms Catherine Mealing-Jones, Chief Executive 

Mr Marc Ronan, Solicitor & Monitoring Officer 

 

Apologies 

A Edwards, Cllr E Roderick and Cllr J Davies 

  

 

35/21 Correspondence  

 

Deputy Chair welcomed Officers, Members of the Authority and members of the public 

watching via the livestream.  

  

Apologies were received from Canon Aled Edwards, Cllr Edwin Roderick, Cllr Jeremy 

Davies  

  

No correspondence received.   

  

 

36/21 Declarations of Interest  

 

No declarations were received.   

 

37/21 Minutes  

 

Public Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



  
Brecon Beacons National Park 

National Park Authority 2 25 November 2022 

 

RESOLVED: to approve the following minutes and authorised the Chair to sign them as a 

correct record:  

 30 September 2022  

  

Cllr Emmanuel noted that he was having IT issues and that's why his camera wasn't 

working.  

  

Mr Stedman was unable to vote and cast verbal votes throughout the meeting.  

  

 

38/21 Public Speaking  

 

No requests were received.  

 

39/21 Chair's Announcements  

 

Deputy Chair noted that he would not be making an announcement as he was only acting 

for this meeting, and that the Chair would update the Authority at their next meeting.  

 

40/21 Chief Executive's Announcements  
 

Noted that she had been prioritising organisational development, working through the 

recommendations on the Audit Wales Action Plan, and ensuring the National Park 

Management Plan was ready for the upcoming EGM where Members will be asked to sign 

off on it.  

 

41/21 National Parks UK Conference Report  

 

Members asked how issues around land use, environmental impacts, and support systems, 

which were prevalent throughout, could 

be incorporated into the National Parks Wales Conference the Authority will be 

hosting in Spring 2023. 

 

42/21 Audit of the Authority’s 2021-22 Financial Statements: Audit Enquiries  

 

The Chief Executive drew Members attention to her Capacity & Capability paper (taken 

to 30 September NPA) as all responses were formulated with this information in mind.  

 

43/21 Audited Statement of Accounts 2021-22  

 

The opinion given by Audit Wales is an unqualified one and the S151 Officer noted her 

thanks for all the work done by Officers achieving this.  

  

She noted a few minor amendments (page numbers that were incorrect and a reordering 

of paragraphs on pages 62 and 63) 

that would be updated before the going to the Auditor-General for certification.  

  

Members were advised that remote working had not had a negative impact on the audit, 

as the systems in place following the lockdown were robust and allowed for collaborative 

Page 6



  
Brecon Beacons National Park 

National Park Authority 3 25 November 2022 

 

working. That being said, the Authority will push for some in person interaction for 

upcoming audits, as a hybrid approach is preferable.  

  

Members also asked about fraud impacts and whether Officers were confident in 

current procedures and training in this area. Officers noted that the Item 8 from this 

agenda touched on current processes in place and that the Authority is always looking for 

ways to improve in this area. The Chief Executive stressed that at its heart, fraud is about 

people, and that how we bring people on board and train them is essential to mitigating 

this area of risk.  

  

On the Annual Governance Statement, it was noted by the Chief Executive that internal 

auditors, TIAA, not being able to give an opinion on governance for the year was an 

exceptional circumstance. She also voiced her commitment to take on board comments 

Audit Wales had made on the format of the Annual Governance Statement for next 

year.   
  
 

44/21 Letter of Representation  

 

Outlines efforts taken by the Authority to ensure the Statement of Accounts is a true and 

fair representation of the Authority finances.   

 

45/21 Audit Report  

 

Audit Wales noted that the Auditor-General was due to certify the Accounts at 14:00 on 

Monday 28 November, and that the accounts were still open right up until certification. 

As a result, any objections or questions raised by Electors would still be considered 

should they be raised, and any additional relevant information could also still be 

considered. These caveats aside, the Accounts were on track to be signed off with an 

unqualified opinion and would be signed off ahead of the Welsh Government’s deadline.   

  

Audit Wales highlighted two corrections for noting, neither of which were material 

enough to affect the unqualified opinion:  

 £51k in services charges (Landlord notified BBNPA of this charge in 

September 2022, after the draft accounts for audit had been completed)  

 £11k in annual leave accrual  

  

Next steps would be to report recommendations, along with Officer comments, to the 

next Audit & Risk Committee meeting.  

  

Members were assured that there were lessons to be learned from the audit process 

overall and the impact of  capacity issues was also noted.   

  

RESOLVED: to note the content of the Audit Report delivered by Audit Wales   

  

RESOLVED: to approve the audited Statement of Accounts 2021/22   
  

RESOLVED: to note the Annual Governance Statement   

  

 

Page 7



  
Brecon Beacons National Park 

National Park Authority 4 25 November 2022 

 

46/21 2022 Audit Plan - Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  

 

Audit Wales noted that this plan does not usually go to NPA and that this was unusual – 

it had been scheduled for Spring 2022 but as a result of the election and the Queen’s 

passing this year, there had been delays.  

  

The work around revisiting the Action Plan recommendations scheduled for December 

2022 had now been rescheduled, at the request of the Chief Executive, to March 2023. 

This would allow time to benefit from the appointment of Welsh Government 

appointed Consultant for Governance.  

  

RESOLVED: to note the contents of the 2022 Audit Plan from Audit Wales.  

  

  

 

47/21 In-Year Reserve Funds Approval and Delegation  

 

Members noted the work of the Sustainable Development Fund Committee in supporting 

project work.  

  
They were advised that they Authority does benefit from legacies and 

bequests (we had started the year with ~£135k and were now down to ~£70k) and that 

this was an area of interest for the Authority’s income diversification.  

  

RESOLVED: to approve future reporting proposals as set out in the report.   

  

 

48/21 Public Attendance and Speaking at Committee Meetings  

 

The Director of Planning & Place noted that there was more detail around public speaking 

at Planning Committee as this is the committee most affected by this scheme.  

  

Members were made aware of minor updates that had been made to the policy:  

 Paragraphs 4.6 & 4.7 refer to the ‘access website’ and should read ‘authority 

website’  

 Paragraph 4.10 the reference to ‘non-remote meetings’, now reads as ‘meetings’  

  

The Chair of Planning endorsed the updated policy and stressed the importance of public 

engagement with all committees.  

  

Members advised that it might be better to change the wording in the policy, 

relating to timeframes, to a number of days (rather than a specific day of 

the week), so that it would be applicable to all committees and could accommodate agile 

working.  

  

Members were also assured that members of the public with disabilities that might be 

disadvantaged by the three-minute cut-off for speaking would be accommodated for as 

they were able to prepare a written statement to be read out by proxy.  

  

Page 8



  
Brecon Beacons National Park 

National Park Authority 5 25 November 2022 

 

RESOLVED: to approve the proposed Public Attendance and Speaking at Committee 

Meetings policy as set out in Appendix One of this report   

  

RESOLVED: to delegate updates to document links and formatting of the policy to the 

Director of Planning and Place 

  

 

49/21 IRPW Draft Report 2023-24  

 

Deputy Chair noted that it would be difficult to accept a pay increase during a cost-of-

living crisis, but, if we wanted to encourage people from all backgrounds to consider 

joining the Authority, the remuneration needed to make becoming a Member a financially 

viable option.  

 

50/21 Gifts & Hospitality  

 

None were declared.  

 

51/21 Any Other Business  

 
No other business was raised.  

 

52/21 Access to Information  

 

RESOLVED: to exclude the press and public from the meeting during consideration of 

item 19 in accordance with section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, 

on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 

paragraph 14 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 and in all the 

circumstances, the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 

interest in disclosing the information.   

 

53/21 BBNPA Branding  

 

 

 

 

 

Signed as a correct record 

Chair of the National Park Authority 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



 
 
Brecon Beacons National Park 

National Park Authority 1 16 December 2022 

 

 

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY NATIONAL 

PARK AUTHORITY HELD AT VIRTUAL MEETING ON FRIDAY, 16TH DECEMBER, 

2022 
 

 

 

PRESENT: 

 

Cllr G Ratcliffe (Deputy Chair) 

Cllr E Roderick 

Cllr I McIntosh 

Cllr W Powell 

Cllr H Williams 

Cllr E Jones 

Cllr S Howarth 

Cllr A Davies 
Cllr P Baldwin 

Canon Aled Edwards (Chair)  

Mr Julian Stedman 

 

In Attendance 

 

Dr Simone Lowthe-Thomas, Director of Nature Recovery and Climate Change 

Mr Gareth Jones, Director of Planning and Place 

Stephanie Davies, Democratic Services Manager 

Mrs Gemma Turner 

Ms Catherine Mealing-Jones, Chief Executive 

Mr Marc Ronan, Solicitor & Monitoring Officer 

 

Apologies 

Cllr J Davies and Cllr L Cowles 

  

 

54/21 Correspondence  

 

Chair welcomed Officers, Members of the Authority and members of the public watching 

via the livestream. Last meeting of 2022. 

  

Apologies were received from Cllr Jeremy Davies and Cllr Liam Cowles. 

  

No correspondence received.  

  

 

55/21 Declarations of Interest  

 

No declarations were received.  
  

 

56/21 Public Speaking  

Public Document Pack

Page 11



  
Brecon Beacons National Park 

National Park Authority 2 16 December 2022 

 

 

No requests were received. 

  

 

57/21 Chair's Announcements  

 

The recruitment for four new Welsh Government appointed Members is nearly complete 

and we hope to make appointments in the new year. The Chair explained the recruitment 

process at the request of the Deputy Chair and noted that the Minister had the final say 

for these appointments. 

  

Audit Wales are completing interviews with Members this week as part of their Income 

Diversification Report fieldwork.  

  

A workshop on accommodation for HQ was held this week with an external consultant. 

The session was constructive and all options available were explored. This work is 

ongoing and good progress is being made. 

  

 

58/21 Future Bannau  
 

Item was introduced by the Chief Executive who acknowledged the work of Officers and 

Members in delivering on a bold and ambitious management place, that goes above and 

beyond statutory requirements. 

  

Officers advised that the Plan was note quite complete, and that some additional 

consultation was still due to take place. These additions would be presented to Members 

in the new year. Officers stressed that this was just the first step, and that there was still 

plenty of work to be done. The Plan should be seen as a commitment to what needs to 

be done. 

  

Members noted that the hours of work put into developing this plan were evident in the 

quality of it and commended Officers on the consultation and engagement that helped 

inform the work. They were also encouraged by the input from the Minister. 

  

Resources would be needed to help deliver on this plan, and public money would not be 

sufficient alone. Effective income diversification would be essential to support this 

delivery. 

  

RESOLVED: to adopt Future Bannau as the Statutory Management Plan for the Brecon 

Beacons National Park area for publication in April 2023. 

  

RESOLVED: to agree that Future Bannau acts as the Wellbeing Plan for the National Park 

area and that the Plan's mission statements form out Wellbeing Objectives as required by 

the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

  

RESOLVED: to agree that any further minor amendments to Future Bannau up to 

publication can be agreed by the Chief Executive in consultation with the Chair of the 

Authority. 

  

Page 12



  
Brecon Beacons National Park 

National Park Authority 3 16 December 2022 

 

 

59/21 Update on Section 6 Reporting  

 

Members will receive the full report after it has been submitted in January 2023. Officers 

are also working on a training session on Section 6 Duty requirements to provide 

Members with a better understanding of what this entails.  

  

 

60/21 Contract Standing Orders  

 

This update is in response to one of the recommendations made by Audit Wales and is 

accompanied by a Procurement Guide for Officers. A Procurement Toolkit is also being 

developed. 

  

It was noted that the landscape for procurement is changing as a result of Brexit talks, so 

there may be a need to revise this document again, and that any changes would be put to 

the NPA for further approval. 

  

Members were advised that procurement is an operational issue and the only involvement 

from them would be in approving policies. 
  

RESOLVED: to approve the Contract Standing Orders attached as Appendix One. 

  

 

61/21 Parking Byelaw  

 

The Monitoring Officer highlighted that this was to approve the consultation process and 

not to approve a specific byelaw. 

  

RESOLVED: to approve the commencement of the initial written statement and 12-week 

consultation on the introduction of the byelaw regulating the use of and charging for car 

parking on Authority owned car parks. 

  

 

62/21 Planning Protocol  

 

The Director of Planning & Place noted that the review and update of this protocol had 

been done to provide clear guidelines for both Officers and the public. He informed 

Planning Committee members that that they would receive training on the new protocol 

in due course. 

  

The updated protocol was commended by Members, notably the clarification around site 

visits.  

  

RESOLVED: to approve the proposed changes to the Planning Protocol as set out in 

Appendix One of this report. 

  

RESOLVED: to delegate minor amendments and formatting of the Protocol to the 

Director of Planning and Place. 

  

Page 13



  
Brecon Beacons National Park 

National Park Authority 4 16 December 2022 

 

 

63/21 Buildings Management and Maintenance Policy  

 

The Director of Planning & Place explained that the policy was produced in response to a 

recommendation in the audit completed by internal auditors TIAA. 

  

This had been identified as a key area of risk and having the right policy and procedure in 

place was essential and would provide effective oversight to ensure we were meeting 

necessary requirements. 

  

Members asked for further information around potential impacts on insurance and for an 

organisational chart that set out who was responsible for what – both of these requests 

were taken as actions by Officers to report back to Members. 

  

It was noted by the Chair that Cllr Edwin Roderick was unable to vote on this item as he 

had stepped away for the presentation. 

  

RESOLVED: to approve the Buildings Management & Maintenance Policy set out in 

Appendix One of this report. 

  
RESOLVED: to delegate updates to document links and formatting of the policy to the 

Director of Planning and Place. 

  

 

64/21 Any Other Business  

 

Members noted the retirement of Warden Wyn Morgan and acknowledged his service. 

  

Members also noted the passing of former Chair, Cllr Gwyn Gwilym. 

  

 

 

 

 

Signed as a correct record 

Chair of the National Park Authority 

 

 

Page 14



 
 
Brecon Beacons National Park 

National Park Authority 1 7 February 2023 

 

 

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY NATIONAL 

PARK AUTHORITY HELD AT VIRTUAL TEAMS MEETING ON TUESDAY, 7TH 

FEBRUARY, 2023 

 

 

 

PRESENT: 

 

Powys 

 

Cllr G Ratcliffe (Deputy Chair) 

Cllr I McIntosh 

Cllr W Powell 

Cllr H Williams 

Cllr E Jones 

Cllr A Davies 

Cllr J Davies 

Cllr S Emanuel 

Cllr L Cowles 
Cllr P Baldwin 

Canon Aled Edwards (Chair) 

Mr Julian Stedman 

Dr Liz Bickerton  

Dr Yvonne Howard-Bunt  

Professor John Hunt  

Mr Craig Stephenson 

 

In Attendance 

 

Mr Gareth Jones, Director of Planning and Place 

Mrs Gemma Turner 

Ms Catherine Mealing-Jones, Chief Executive 

Mr Marc Ronan, Solicitor & Monitoring Officer 

Jo Williams, Section 151 and Finance Manager 

 

Apologies 

Cllr E Roderick and Cllr S Howarth 

  

 

65/21 Correspondence  

 

Chair welcomed Officers, Members of the Authority and members of the public watching 

via the livestream to the first meeting of the Authority for 2023.  

  

No correspondence received.  

  

Apologies were received from Cllr Simon Howarth and Cllr Edwin Roderick. 

  

 

Public Document Pack

Page 15



  
Brecon Beacons National Park 

National Park Authority 2 7 February 2023 

 

66/21 Declarations of Interest  

 

No declarations were received.  

  

 

67/21 Public Speaking  

 

No requests were received. 

  

 

68/21 Chairs Announcements  

 

The Chair welcomed four new Welsh Government appointed Members: 

·                Professor John Hunt 

·                Dr Yvonne Howard-Bunt 

·                Dr Liz Bickerton 

·                Craig Stephenson 

  

 

69/21 Net Zero Sustainable Transport Strategy and Action Plan – project update & 
feedback from members  

 

Members were advised that this presentation would be rolled out to Officers and various 

stakeholders, so feedback would we welcomed. 

 stakeholder engagement, and buy in, was key to securing the funding required to 

progress this work. 

 Cycling and walking was not viable for those coming from outside the park but 

would be useful for internal routes and local communities within the park. 

 The lack of a rail network within the park was a weakness, and that we should 

look to partner with gateway opportunities around the park to strengthen this. 

 We should be engaging with major events organisers (such as Green Man Festival) 

to benefit from their knowledge and learnings in this area. 

 Case studies around community focussed initiatives were useful, but as each area 

is so unique it is essential to do trials before implementation to see if they are 

applicable to a new community. 

 Electric vehicles for car clubs and park-and-ride schemes were of particular 

interest, but ultimately a scheme that pays for itself is essential. 

  

Page 16



  
Brecon Beacons National Park 

National Park Authority 3 7 February 2023 

 

Officers echoed the need for effective consultation and engagement but highlighted that as 

they were time bound to spending the money from the Commission within the year, this 

would limit what they could realistically commit to. 

  

 

70/21 Interim Committee Appointments  

 

The Chair and Monitoring Officer thanked Local Authority Members for voluntarily 

stepping down to accommodate the appointment of Welsh Government Members. It was 

stressed that this was in no way performance related and was essential to ensure all 

committees were quorate: 

 Planning Committee: Cllr Ed Jones to step down 

 Audit & Risk Committee: Cllr Andrew Davies to step down 

 Finance & Performance Committee: Cllr Peter Baldwin to step down 

 SDF Committee: Cllr Ed Jones & Cllr Jeremy Davies to step down 

  

Self-nominations were taken from the four newly appointed Welsh Government 

Members. 

  

RESOLVED: appointment of Craig Stephenson to the Audit & Risk Committee until the 

AGM 

RESOLVED: appointment of Yvonne Howard-Bunt to the Audit & Risk Committee until 

the AGM 

  

RESOLVED: appointment of Liz Bickerton to the Finance & Performance Committee until 

the AGM 

  

RESOLVED: appointment of Craig Stephenson to the Planning Committee until the AGM 

RESOLVED: appointment of Liz Bickerton to the Planning Committee until the AGM 

RESOLVED: appointment of John Hunt to the Planning Committee until the AGM 

  

RESOLVED: appointment of John Hunt to the SDF Committee until the AGM 

RESOLVED: appointment of Yvonne Howard-Bunt to the SDF Committee until the AGM 

  
 

71/21 Draft Revenue Estimates and Levy 2023/24  

 

The Section 151 Officer advised Members that the final Estimates would go to NPA for 

March. 

  

Members were concerned that dipping into reserves was unsustainable and urged Officers 

to consider collaborating with our partners to create stronger bids for available funding. 

This was echoed by the Chief Executive who stressed that effective income diversification 

was key to the Park’s future success. 

  

S151 Officer agreed that it was not a comfortable position to be in. Members were 

advised that this was only an estimate and that the outcome of this financial year (the 

actual amount of reserves we had used) would fully determine our position. 

  

Page 17



  
Brecon Beacons National Park 

National Park Authority 4 7 February 2023 

 

RESOLVED: to authorise officers to issue levy notices to the constituent Local 

Authorities under the National Park Authorities (Levies) Wales Order 1995. 

  

 

72/21 Any Other Business  

 

No other business was raised. 

  

 

73/21 Access to Information  

 

RESOLVED: to exclude the press and public from the meeting during consideration of 

item 10 in accordance with section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, 

on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 

paragraph 14 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 and in all the 

circumstances, the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 

interest in disclosing the information. 

  

 

74/21 Accommodation Update  
 

 

 

 

Signed as a correct record 

Chair of the National Park Authority 

 

 

Page 18



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 10-3-23 

1 of 4 

To: National Park Authority, 10 March 2023 
From: Stephanie Davies, Democratic Services Manager 
 
 

Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales: Annual Report 2023-24 
 
 

Decision Required YES ☐ / NO ☒ Agenda Item 8 

 

Recommendation 

Note the contents of this paper 

 

Key Messages 

The Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales sets allowances for members of 
public bodies in Wales. This report contains the figures for 2023/24. 

 
  

Page 19

Agenda Item 8



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 10-3-23 

2 of 4 

Background 

 
The IPRW is the body set up by the Welsh Government to determine allowances for 
members of public bodies in Wales. Each year the Panel engages with members of 
the bodies for which it sets remuneration levels, officers within those organisations 
and clerks. 
 
Payments will increase as a result of the uplift proposed for elected members of  
principal councils. Therefore, there will also be an uplift of 4.76% in the basic salary  
element. This increase will apply as of 1 April 2023. 
 
Relation to Authority Priorities 

 
Figures for 2023-24 

 
 
All other Determinations for 2022 to 2023 will still stand and should be applied in  
2023 to 2024, including those covering: 

• Contributions towards costs of care and personal assistance; 

• Reimbursement of travel and subsistence costs; 

• Compensation for financial loss; 

• Co-opted members, and; 

• Restrictions on receiving double remuneration where a member holds more  

than one post. 
 
They advise that if any member wishes to opt out of receiving all or any of the 
allowances, or the proposed increase, they are required to put this in writing to the 
Proper Officer.  
 
The Authority highlights this requirement to new members at the induction stage. 
 
  

Page 20



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 10-3-23 

3 of 4 

Impact Analysis 

 
Financial – The financial impact of the increase in Basic and Senior Salaries is as 
follows:  
 
Allowance Current 2023/24 Increase per member Impact on 

budget 

Basic Salary 4738 4964 226 4068 

Chair NPA Senior Salary 8793 8800 7 7 

Deputy Chair NPA Senior 
Salary 

3740 3740 0 0 

Chair Planning Senior 
Salary 

3740 3740 0 0 

Chair Audit and Risk 
Committee Senior Salary 

3740 3740 0 0 

      Total 4075 

 
Legal - none directly implicated from this report. 
 
Diversity - none directly implicated from this report. 
 
Human Resources - none directly implicated from this report. 
 
Sustainability – none directly implicated from this report. 
 
Risk 

 
The IRPW was established to make decisions on remuneration to members of 
bodies and takes many factors into consideration when making recommendations on 
an appropriate level of remuneration.  
 
Conclusion and Next Steps 

 
Members are asked to note the changes highlighted in the report. 
 
  

Page 21



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 10-3-23 

4 of 4 

Appendix One: IRPW Annual Report 2023-24 

 
 

Page 22



February 2023

Independent Remuneration 
Panel for Wales

Annual Report

  © Crown copyright 2023, Welsh Government, WG46975, Digital ISBN 978-1-80535-448-2 
Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg hefyd / This document is also available in Welsh 
Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg / We welcome correspondence and telephone calls in Welsh

Page 23



1 
 

Annual Report 2023 to 2024 
 
Section Page number 
1. Introduction 2 
2. Role and Responsibilities of the Panel 4 
3. Deliberations and Determinations 6 
4. Consultation and Summary of Determinations 15 

 
 
  

Page 24



2 
 

Section 1: Introduction 
 
This is the Final Annual Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales, 
setting the Decisions and Determinations on pay, expenses and benefits for elected 
members of principal councils, community and town councils, National Park 
Authorities and Fire and Rescue Authorities for implementation from April 2023.  
 
This is my first Report as Chair of the Panel, having been appointed in June 2022. I 
would like to take this opportunity to thank John Bader, the outgoing Chair, for his 
service over many years and who led the Panel through two significant pieces of 
work last year – the Independent 10 Year Review of the Panel and restoring the link 
between elected members salaries and average earnings in Wales. I also thank Joe 
Stockley for his service and I am pleased to announce the appointment of Bev Smith 
in June this year. Saz Willey, Vice Chair, and Ruth Glazzard continued to lead the 
work of the Panel during this period of change and I thank them for the support they 
have given both Bev and I, as new members. Ruth Glazzard stood down from the 
Panel at the end of 2022, when she took up a new Public Appointment. The Public 
Bodies Unit is currently recruiting for a new Panel member. 
 
This year the Panel has continued to focus on and take forward the 
recommendations from the Ten-Year Review. There are four key strands to this work 
– review the way we work, set out a three year strategy for the Panel, improve how 
we communicate and engage with stakeholders and build a robust evidence base to 
inform decisions. 
 
We have embarked on the recommended Effectiveness Review of the way we work 
and have started developing our longer-term strategy with Panel Development Days 
in August and February. We have agreed that our mission is to deliver a fair and 
accountable reward framework for Wales, to support communities to have their 
voices heard within our local democratic bodies. We will use our expertise and 
professionalism to build trusting, sustainable partnerships to inform our work and 
deliver the changes Wales needs. 
 
We aim to improve the way we communicate and engage both with our immediate 
stakeholders and the general public. As a first step we now publish a summary of our 
monthly meetings on our website, but recognise there is much more to do. We aim to 
improve the accessibility and ease of use of our website and develop it into a more 
useful resource tool for people. We intend it to be an easy-to-use store of information 
on our Determinations, and, building on our current Frequently Asked Questions 
page, develop our Guidance on how all decisions should be applied.  
 
Whilst we are an independent body, we will continue to work collaboratively with key 
stakeholders engaged in promoting participation in local democracy. The Welsh 
Government published research exploring the barriers to standing for elected office 
and the changing role of the councillor and held a series of events across Wales to 
highlight and discuss the findings. 
 
We took an active part in these events, hosting seminars on remuneration and the 
changing role of local councillors. We welcomed the opportunity to share knowledge, 
experience, and best practice across a range of subjects and particularly the focus 

Page 25

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-10-year-review
https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-10-year-review
https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales
https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales/frequently-asked-questions
https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales/frequently-asked-questions


3 
 

on developing a shared understanding of how we can take collective action to 
increase diversity in local democracy.  
 
The Panel has decided that this year will be a year of consolidation. Major changes 
were put in place last year, and a significant uplift in salary levels was agreed. We 
wish to allow time for last year’s Determinations to bed in and to allow the Panel to 
continue its development of a research and evidence base to inform future decisions 
and move to a longer term planning cycle. This report reflects that decision. 
 
During the past few years, we have been considering the structure of our reports and 
how we can make them more accessible to all. We have concluded that much of the 
information published replicates previous years, often without significant change. For 
this report we decided to focus on the changes made as a result of the proposals. 
We have therefore decided that the majority of the content set out in previous reports 
will be removed from the report and placed on the Panel’s website. We will make 
arrangements for those who are unable to access the website. 
 
This change has significantly reduced the size of the report and made it more 
manageable to navigate. This approach is also in line with our efforts to respect the 
challenges facing us in protecting our planet. 
 
We included an online survey in this year’s Draft Annual Report for the first time and 
would like to thank everyone who took the time to complete this, or send in written 
responses to our consultation questions and comments on the Draft report. 
 
 
 
 
Panel Membership 
Frances Duffy, Chair 
Saz Willey, Vice Chair 
Bev Smith 
 
Detailed information about the members can be found on the website: Panel website 
  

Page 26

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales


4 
 

Section 2: Role and responsibilities of the Panel 
 
Role of the Panel 
 
The Panel is responsible for setting the levels and arrangements for the 
remuneration of members of the following organisations.  
 

• Principal councils – county and county borough councils 

• Community and town councils 

• National Park Authorities 

• Fire and Rescue Authorities 

• Corporate Joint Committees 
 
The Panel is an independent body and is able to make decisions about: 
 

• The salary structure within which members are remunerated 

• The type and nature of allowances to be paid to members 

• Whether payments are mandatory or allow a level of local flexibility 

• Arrangements in respect of family absence 

• Arrangements for monitoring compliance with the Panel’s decisions 
 
The Panel is an independent organisation and the organisations listed above are 
required, by law, to implement the decisions it makes. There is no requirement set by 
the Panel for principal councils to vote on the Determinations. The Panel also sets 
out Guidance on how its Determinations should be applied, and all councils must 
have due regard to this Guidance. The current guidance is set out in the 2022 to 
2023 Annual Report, Annex 2 “The Regulations”. This guidance is still applicable. 
 
The Panel is also consultee for proposed changes to the pay of principal council 
Chief Executives. 
 
Principles 
 
The work of the Panel is underpinned by a set of principles which guides its 
approach, methodology and decision making. They are: 
 

• Upholding trust and confidence – Citizens rightly expect that all those who 
choose to serve in local authorities uphold the public trust by embracing the 
values and ethics implicit in such public service. 
 

• Simplicity – The Framework is clear and understandable. 
 

• Remuneration – The Framework provides for payment to members of 
authorities who carry a responsibility for serving their communities. The level 
of payment should not act as a barrier to taking up or continuing in the post. 
 

• Diversity – Democracy is strengthened when the membership of authorities 
adequately reflects the demographic and cultural make-up of the communities 
such authorities serve. 

Page 27

https://www.gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-annual-report-2022-2023-html
https://www.gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-annual-report-2022-2023-html
https://www.gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-annual-report-2022-2023-html#90420


5 
 

• Accountability - Taxpayers and citizens have the right to receive value for 
money from public funds committed to the remuneration of those who are 
elected, appointed or co-opted to serve in the public interest. 
 

• Fairness - The Framework will be capable of being applied consistently to 
members of all authorities within the Panel’s remit as a means of ensuring 
that levels of remuneration are fair, affordable and generally acceptable. 
 

• Quality - The Panel recognises that the complex mix of governance, scrutiny 
and regulatory duties incumbent upon members requires them to engage with 
a process of continuous quality improvement. 
 

• Transparency - Transparency of members’ remuneration is in the public 
interest. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



6 
 

Section 3: Summary of Deliberations and Determinations 
 
Methodology 
 
Each year the Panel engages with members of the bodies for which it sets 
remuneration levels, officers within those organisations and clerks. The Panel also 
engages with relevant membership bodies including Welsh Local Government 
Association, One Voice Wales and the Society for Local Council Clerks. It does this 
through a range of meetings which, at the moment, remain mostly online. The Panel 
has continued with these discussions. They provide an opportunity for the Panel to 
explore views about existing arrangements, the impact decisions are having on 
individuals, how the arrangements are operating in practice and any issues or 
concerns individuals wish to raise. They have also provided an opportunity for 
discussion about emerging situations which the Panel has considered in its decision 
making.  
 
The draft report was published widely and members of the public encouraged to and 
have provided valuable feedback and we welcome this. This year, the Panel had the 
opportunity to engage with a wider group of stakeholders at the three Welsh 
Government “Diversity in Democracy” events and workshops. 
 
The Panel also considers feedback from the publishing of the Annual Report in the 
previous year. The changes made in last year’s Report, in particular the uplift in the 
basic salary, seem to have been well received by stakeholders. The issues raised 
with the Panel have all been centred around the detail of the Determinations, asking 
for guidance on how they should be applied or asking for points of clarification where 
the text of the Report was unclear.  
 
The Panel has therefore agreed to review the format and structure of the main 
Report and make better use of the Panel website to provide information and 
guidance. 
 
The Panel has a duty to set payments that are fair and that encourage and enable 
democratic participation. It must also take account of affordability and acceptability.  
 
In making its determinations the Panel considered a range of benchmarks, including 
past, current and projected indices and actual figures and the known and forecast 
extent and impact of multiple economic and social factors. These included post 
Brexit and COVID work environments and the cost of living, energy and climate 
crises. 
 
Consultation on the draft Annual Report  
 
The Panel produced and issued a draft report on 6 October 2022 for an eight-week 
consultation, which closed on 1 December 2022. 
 
In addition, as part of the consultation process, stakeholders were invited to answer 
five questions using an online survey or by return email. A total of 89 responses 
were received online, whilst 44 were submitted by email to the IRP Mailbox. The 

Page 29



7 
 

Panel would like to thank everyone who contributed to the consultation. A summary 
of the responses is included in section 4. 
 
Overall, the responses supported the Panel’s determinations and so no changes 
have been made in the final Determinations. In some areas the wording of the 
Determinations has been strengthened to clarify areas of uncertainty raised through 
the consultation, primarily a restatement of the ability for members, on an individual 
basis, to opt out of part or all of their remuneration. 
 
In addition, the consultation responses, highlighted a few areas that the Panel will 
consider in their forward work programme for this year. The forward work 
programme will be published on the Panel’s website at the end of March. 
 
Following consideration of the views received in response to its consultation the 
Panel now makes its final determinations.   
 
Panel’s Determinations for 2023 to 2024 
 
Basic salary for elected members of principal councils: Determination 1 
 

The basic salary, paid to all elected members, is remuneration for the responsibility 
of community representation and participation in the scrutiny, regulatory and related 
functions of local governance. It is based on a full time equivalent of three days a 
week. The Panel regularly reviews this time commitment and no changes are 
proposed for 2023 to 2024.  
 
Last year the Panel reset the basic salary to align with the 2020 Annual Survey of 
Hours and Earnings (ASHE) published by the Office of National Statistics. This 
reduced the imbalance that had arisen between the basic salary of members of 
principal councils and the average salaries of their constituents. The change took 
effect from the May 2022 local elections. The rationale for this significant step can be 
found in last year’s Annual Report and a detailed explanatory paper setting out the 
historical context and analysis is available on the Panel’s website.  
 
Building on this decision the Panel has determined that for the financial year 1 April 
2023 to 31 March 2024 it is right to retain a link between the basic salary of 
councillors and the average salaries of their constituents. The basic salary will be 
aligned with three fifths of the all Wales 2021 ASHE, the latest figure available 
at drafting. This will be £17,600. This will represent a 4.76% increase in the 
basic salary. 
 
 
Salaries paid to Senior, Civic and Presiding members of principal councils: 
Determination 2 
 
The limit on the number of senior salaries payable (“the cap”) will remain in place. At 
the 2022 local elections boundary reviews changed the number of members for 
some councils. The Panel adjusted the senior salary cap for these councils in its 
2022 to 2023 Annual Report. As there are no further changes for 2023 to 2024, the 

Page 30

https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earningsandworkinghours/bulletins/annualsurveyofhoursandearnings/2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earningsandworkinghours/bulletins/annualsurveyofhoursandearnings/2020
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-02/an-historical-overview-of-irpw-determinations-on-members-salaries.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earningsandworkinghours/bulletins/annualsurveyofhoursandearnings/2021


8 
 

maximum number of senior salaries payable within each council remains as set out 
in the 2022 to 2023 Report. 
 
All senior salaries include the basic salary payment. The different levels of additional 
responsibility of and between each role is recognised in a banded framework. The 
framework was revised last year after a review of differentials and market 
comparators. No changes to banding are proposed this year. Early next year the 
Panel will gather evidence from principal councils to explore whether and how the 
workload of elected members has changed.  
 
The ASHE 2021 increase applies to the role element of Band 1 and Band 2 salaries 
– leader, deputy leader and executive members. 
 
To complete the last year’s realignment of the framework, Band 3 and Band 4 salary 
holders will receive a small increase to the role element of their pay and the role 
element of Band 5 pay will remain frozen. The increase in basic salary will apply. 
 
The salary of a leader of the largest (Group A) council will therefore be £66,000. All 
other payments have been decided in reference to this and are set out in Table 1. 
 
Table 1 – Salaries payable to Basic, Senior, Civic and Presiding members of 

principal councils 
 

Description Remuneration 

 

Elected members of principal councils 

 
Basic salary (payable to all elected members) 
 

 
£17,600 

Senior salaries (inclusive of basic salary) Group A Group B Group C 

Band 1:   

Leader £66,000 £59,400 £56,100 

Deputy Leader  £46,200 £41,580 £39,270 

Band 2:  

Executive members £39,600 £35,640 £33,660 

Band 3:  

Committee Chairs (if remunerated): 
Civic Head 
Presiding Officer 

£26,400 

Band 4:  

Leader of largest Opposition Group £26,400 

Band 5:  

Leader of Other Political Groups 
Deputy Civic Head 

£21,340 

Deputy Presiding Member – no role payment £17,600 

 
 
 
 

Page 31

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-annual-report-2022-2023-html
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earningsandworkinghours/bulletins/annualsurveyofhoursandearnings/2021


9 
 

Group A: Cardiff, Rhondda Cynon Taf, Swansea 
 
Group B: Bridgend, Caerphilly, Carmarthenshire, Conwy, Flintshire, Gwynedd, 
Newport, Neath Port Talbot, Pembrokeshire, Powys, Vale of Glamorgan, Wrexham 
 
Group C: Blaenau Gwent, Ceredigion, Denbighshire, Merthyr Tydfil, 
Monmouthshire, Torfaen, Isle of Anglesey 
 
There are no further changes to the payments and benefits paid to elected members 
and therefore all other Determinations from 2022 to 2023 still stand and should be 
applied in 2023 to 2024, including those covering: 
 

• Travel and subsistence;  

• Care and personal assistance;  

• Sickness absence;  

• Corporate Joint Committees,  

• Assistants to the Executive,  

• Additional salaries and Job sharing arrangements and 

• Co-opted members 
 
 
Salaries for Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees: Determination 3  
 
The salary of a chair of a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be £8,800.  
 
The salary of vice-chair will be £4,400.   
 
There are no other changes.  

Page 32



10 
 

Contribution to costs and expenses of members of Community and Town 
Councils: Determination 4 
 
Last year the Panel carried out a major review of the remuneration framework for 
community and town councils and undertook a comprehensive consultation exercise 
with the sector. The Framework was updated then and this year the Panel has 
decided to make limited but important changes.  
 
The Panel recognise that all members of community and town councils necessarily 
spend time working from home on council business. This was the case before and 
during COVID and is continuing. As a result, members have extra domestic costs 
and also need office consumables.    
 
The Panel considers members should not be out of pocket for carrying out their 
duties. However, an individual may decline to receive part, or all, of the payments if 
they so wish. This must be done in writing and is an individual matter. A community 
or town council member wishing to decline payments must themselves write to their 
proper officer to do so. Each community and town council must ensure that it does 
not create a climate which prevents persons accessing any monies to which they are 
entitled that may support them to participate in local democracy. Payments should 
be made efficiently and promptly. 
 
Reimbursement for extra costs of working from home  
 
All councils must pay their members £156 a year (equivalent to £3 a week) towards 
the extra household expenses (including heating, lighting, power and broadband) of 
working from home.  
 
Reimbursement for consumables 
 
Councils must either pay their members £52 a year for the cost of office 
consumables required to carry out their role, or alternatively councils must enable 
members to claim full reimbursement for the cost of their office consumables. 
 
It is a matter for each council to make and record a policy decision in respect of 
when and how the payments are made and whether they are paid monthly, yearly or 
otherwise. The policy should also state whether and how to recover any payments 
made to a member who leaves or changes their role during the financial year. 
 
Guidance on taxation 
 
It is not within the remit or authority of the Panel to provide specific advice on matters 
of taxation. Advice can be provided by One Voice Wales and guidance is available 
on the HMRC website. 
 
The £156 should fall under the statutory provisions of section 316A ITEPA: Income 
Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 (legislation.gov.uk) and the current amount 
that can be paid without attracting a tax liability is £6 per week: Expenses and 
benefits: homeworking: Homeworking expenses and benefits that are exempt from 
tax - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk).  

Page 33

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/1/section/316A
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/1/section/316A
https://www.gov.uk/expenses-and-benefits-homeworking/homeworking-expenses-and-benefits-that-are-exempt-from-tax
https://www.gov.uk/expenses-and-benefits-homeworking/homeworking-expenses-and-benefits-that-are-exempt-from-tax
https://www.gov.uk/expenses-and-benefits-homeworking/homeworking-expenses-and-benefits-that-are-exempt-from-tax


11 
 

The level of payments is set out in Table 2. 
 
Table 2 – Payments to Community and Town Councils 
 

Type of payment  Requirement  

Group 1  Electorate over 14,000 

Extra Costs Payment    Mandatory for all Members 

Senior Role  Mandatory £500 for 1 member; optional for up to 7 

Mayor or Chair  Optional - Up to a maximum of £1,500 

Deputy Mayor or Deputy 
Chair   

Optional - Up to a maximum of £500 

Attendance Allowance Optional 

Financial Loss  Optional 

Travel and Subsistence Optional 

Costs of Care or Personal 
Assistance 

Mandatory 

Group 2      Electorate 10,000 to 13,999 

Extra Costs Payment Mandatory for all members 

Senior Role  Mandatory for 1 member; optional up to 5 

Mayor or Chair  Optional - Up to a maximum of £1,500 

Deputy Mayor or Deputy 
Chair  

Optional - Up to a maximum of £500 

Attendance Allowance Optional 

Financial Loss  Optional 

Travel and Subsistence Optional 

Cost of Care or Personal 
Assistance 

Mandatory 

Group 3  Electorate 5,000 to 9,999 

Extra Costs Payment Mandatory for all members 

Senior Role Optional up to 3 members 

Mayor or Chair  Optional - Up to a maximum of £1,500 

Deputy Mayor or Deputy 
Chair  

Optional - Up to a maximum of £500 

Attendance Allowance Optional 

Financial Loss  Optional 

Travel and Subsistence Optional 

Cost of Care or Personal 
Assistance 

Mandatory 

Group 4  Electorate 1,000 to 4,999 

Extra Costs Payment Mandatory for all members 

Senior Role  Optional up to 3 members 

Mayor or Chair  Optional - Up to a maximum of £1,500 

Deputy Mayor or Deputy 
Chair  

Optional - Up to a maximum of £500 

Attendance Allowance Optional 

Financial Loss  Optional 

Travel and Subsistence Optional 

Cost of Care or Personal 
Assistance 

Mandatory 

Page 34



12 
 

Type of payment  Requirement  

Group 5  Electorate less than 1,000 

Extra Costs Payment Mandatory for all members 

Senior Role  Optional up to 3 members 

Mayor or Chair Optional - Up to a maximum of £1,500 

Deputy Mayor or Deputy 
Chair  

Optional - Up to a maximum of £500 

Attendance Allowance Optional 

Financial Loss  Optional 

Travel and Subsistence Optional 

Cost of Care or Personal 
Assistance 

Mandatory 

 
 

Group number Size of Electorate 

Group 1 Electorate over 14,000 

Group 2 10,000 to 13,999 

Group 3 5,000 to 9,999 

Group 4 1,000 to 4,999 

Group 5 Under 1,000 

 
There are no further changes to the payments and benefits paid to elected members 
and therefore all other Determinations from 2022 to 2023 still stand and should be 
applied in 2023 to 2024, including those covering: 
 

• Payments for undertaking senior roles;  

• Contributions towards costs of care and personal assistance;  

• Reimbursement of travel and subsistence costs;  

• Compensation for financial loss:   

• Attendance allowance and 

• Co-opted members 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



13 
 

Payments to National Parks Authorities and Fire and Rescue Authorities: 
Determination 5 
 
The three national parks in Wales - Brecon Beacons, Pembrokeshire Coast and 
Snowdonia were formed to protect spectacular landscapes and provide recreation 
opportunities for the public. The Environment Act 1995 led to the creation of a 
National Park Authority (NPA) for each park.  
 
National Park authorities comprise members who are either elected members 
nominated by the principal councils within the national park area or are members 
appointed by the Welsh Government through the Public Appointments process. 
Welsh Government appointed and council nominated members are treated equally in 
relation to remuneration. 
 
The three fire and rescue services (FRAs) in Wales: Mid and West Wales, North 
Wales and South Wales were formed as part of Local Government re-organisation in 
1996. FRAs comprise elected members who are nominated by the Principal Councils 
within each fire and rescue service area. 
 
Payments will increase as a result of the uplift proposed for elected members of 
principal councils. Therefore, there will also be an uplift of 4.76% in the basic salary 
element.  
 
The remuneration for Chairs will remain linked to a Band 3 senior salary of principal 
councils. Therefore there will be a small increase to the role element of their pay. 
Deputy Chairs, Committee Chairs and other senior roles will remain linked to Band 5. 
Therefore their role element of pay will remain frozen. The increase in basic salary 
will apply. Full details of the levels of remuneration for members of National Park 
Authorities and Fire and Rescue Authorities, is set out in Table 3.  

 
Table 3 – Payments to National Parks Authorities and Fire and Rescue 

Authorities 
 

National Parks Authorities 

Basic salary for ordinary member  £4,964 

Chair £13,764 

Deputy Chair (where appointed) £8,704 

Committee Chair or other senior post  £8,704 

 

Fire and Rescue Authorities 

Basic salary for ordinary member £2,482 

Chair £11,282 

Deputy Chair (where appointed) £6,222 

Committee Chair or other senior post £6,222 

 
All other Determinations for 2022 to 2023 will still stand and should be applied in 
2023 to 2024, including those covering;  
 

• Contributions towards costs of care and personal assistance; 

• Reimbursement of travel and subsistence costs; 

Page 36

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/25/contents


14 
 

• Compensation for financial loss;  

• Co-opted members and 

• Restrictions on receiving double remuneration where a member holds more 
than one post. 

 
  

Page 37



15 
 

Section 4: Consultation: Summary of Responses  
 
The Panel produced and issued a draft report on 6 October 2022 for an eight-week 
consultation, which closed on 1 December 2022. 
 
The website link and pdf version of the draft report was sent to: 
 

• One Voice Wales 

• Welsh Local Government Association  

• Society for Local Council Clerks  

• Principal councils 

• Fire and Rescue Authorities 

• National Park Authorities and  

• Community and Town Councils. 
 
 
Determination 1: Basic Salary increase  
Not all councils commented. Three highlighted whether it was correct that members 
be given an increase during the current cost of living crisis. However, these accepted 
that personal circumstances of members need to be considered and therefore it 
should be a personal matter for members to determine themselves whether or not 
they accept the pay rise or make the choice to opt-out. The Panel considered this 
feedback, and, whilst mindful of the overall impact on council budgets, agreed that 
the increase in basic salary was an important factor in encouraging and supporting a 
diverse group of people to stand for election. 
 
Determination 2: Senior Salaries 
There were two key issues raised by stakeholders; firstly whether the level of 
remuneration adequately recognises the increasing responsibilities of principal 
council members and secondly whether the current maximum number of senior 
salaries ought to be reviewed. The Panel noted these points and will consider 
whether this area should be a focus of the future workplan. 
 
Determination 3: Salaries for Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
No representations were received in relation to the salaries for Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees. 
 
Determination 4: Payments towards costs and expenses of members of 
Community and Town Councils 
Over half of the responses highlighted a concern that the payments were mandatory 
and that their council did not wish to increase their precept to meet these costs. The 
fact that the Report did not restate that members can choose to decline their 
entitlement to payments was not helpful. However, other responses supported the 
payments. 
 
Ten per cent of the responses received raised concerns about the costs of 
administration and fifteen responses raised questions about the correct treatment for 
tax purposes. One clerk also asked if the payments that members receive could be 

Page 38



16 
 

published globally, similar to how the contribution to costs of care and personal 
assistance is publicised.    
 
Other comments mentioned the need to encourage “green” travel and one queried 
the need for payments to be made for senior positions. 
 
The Panel considered these responses and agreed to reiterate the policy on 
individual opt outs in the Final Report and to provide a link to helpful HMRC 
websites.  
 
The Panel will continue to work with stakeholders to improve support and advice to 
Community and Town Councils. 
 
Determination 5: Payments to National Parks Authorities and Fire and Rescue 
Authorities 
No representations were made in relation to payments to members of National Parks 
Authorities and Fire and Rescue Authorities. 
 
In addition, as part of the consultation process, stakeholders were invited to answer 
five questions via an online survey or by return email. A total of 89 responses were 
received online, whilst 48 were submitted by email to the IRP Mailbox. 
 
Question 1 
The Panel has continued to use the Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings (ASHE) 
published by the Office for National Statistics as the benchmark for setting the basic 
salary of elected members of principal councils. There is a corresponding 
proportionate increase proposed for the members of National Park and Fire and 
Rescue Authorities. The Panel has continued to refer to the last published ASHE 
which was 2021. Do you agree that the basic salary element should be referenced to 
the ASHE 2021 data. 
 
Responses 
90% of those who answered this question agreed that the Panel should reference 
the basic salary element to the ASHE 2021 data. 3% did not agree whilst 7% had no 
opinion on this question 
 
Question 2 
The Panel has made changes to the payment of costs and expenses of members of 
community and town councils. Do you agree with the addition of the “consumables” 
element? 
 
Responses 
72% agreed to the addition of the ‘consumables’ element, whilst 25% did not agree 
to this additional payment. 
 
The most common theme in the answers given to question two was whether this 
payment was now mandatory or if the payment was optional and that Councillors 
had the choice to forgo. The same question was asked of the £156 payment. 
 
 

Page 39

https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earningsandworkinghours/bulletins/annualsurveyofhoursandearnings/2021


17 
 

Question 3 
The Panel will gather evidence from principal councils to explore whether and how 
the workload of elected members has changed to inform future Determinations. Are 
you content that the Panel should build this review into its future work plan and build 
the evidence base to support decisions? 
 
Responses 
97% of those who responded to this question agreed.  
 
The majority of the answers highlighted the additional work that elected members 
now undertook in their role. 
 
Community and town councils welcomed this as it would recognise the amount of 
work that the sector does.  
 
Question 4 
We have significantly reduced the size of the report this year to concentrate on key 
decisions made and intend to make more use of the website to provide easy to use 
guidance to users. This approach is also in line with our efforts to respect the 
challenges facing us in protecting our planet. 
 
How would you like to access information and guidance from the Panel? (choose all 
that apply) 
 
Responses 
 

Summary report with links to detailed guidance 84 

Easy to use guidance notes 71 

Frequently asked questions  49 

Website  54 

Social media 16 

Information events 25 

Other 14 

 
If other, please specify: 
 
The proposed summary report, detailed guidance notes and frequently asked 
questions were welcomed. Other answers included seminars, online meetings and 
an information event. 
 
Have you experienced any challenges accessing or understanding our guidance and 
information through our website? Please let us know how we can make it easier for 
you? 
 
A simplified report and separate guidance document will help stakeholders find the 
information they require.   
 
No stakeholders experienced any challenges accessing or understanding the 
guidance and information through the website 
 

Page 40



18 
 

 
 
Question 5 
The Panel intend to undertake a series of engagements with all relevant 
stakeholders over the next year as part of the development of its forward planning 
and building of its evidence and research strategy.  
 
Have you any comments that would help the Panel shape this engagement?  
 
For example, a preference for online polls, the holding of engagement events, virtual 
or face to face, which groups should be involved, how do we engage with 
prospective candidates etc. 
 
Responses 
 
The most popular answers given to this question were: 
 

• online polls 

• Virtual meetings 

• Face to face meetings 
 
There was a mixture of support for both online and in-person events. Some 
responses proposed that the Panel held regional engagement events so that several 
Councils could attend at the same time. Other comments received suggested these 
events would help to discuss any issues with the Panel in depth and for the Panel to 
receive a broader viewpoint and more comprehensive feedback on any proposals. 
 
One Voice Wales offered support to the Panel in arranging any events in the 
Community and Town Council sector. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



19 
 

Summary of Determinations: 
 
Determination 1: 
The basic level of salary for elected members of principal councils will set at 
£17,600. 
 
Determination 2: 
The salary of a leader of the largest (Group A) council will be £66,000. All other 
payments have been decided in reference to this and are set out in Table1. 
 
Determination 3: 
The salary of a chair of a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be £8,800.  
 
The salary of vice-chair will be £4,400.   
 
Determination 4: 
Members of Community and Town Councils will be paid £156 a year (equivalent to 
£3 a week) towards the extra household expenses (including heating, lighting, power 
and broadband) of working from home. And councils must either pay their members 
£52 a year for the cost of office consumables required to carry out their role, or 
alternatively councils must enable members to claim full reimbursement for the cost 
of their office consumables. 
 
Determination 5: 
The basic pay of members of National Park Authorities and Fire and Rescue 
Authorities has been increased by 4.76%. All payments are set out in Table 3. 
 
Determination 6: 
All other Determinations set out in the 2022 to 2023 Annual Report of the Panel 
remain valid and should be applied. 
 
 
 
 
Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales  
Room N.03 
First Floor  
Crown Buildings  
Cathays Park  
Cardiff 
CF10 3NQ 
 
Telephone: 0300 0253038 
E-mail irpmailbox@gov.wales 
 
The Report and other information about the Panel and its work are available on our 
website at: 

 
Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 
 

Page 42

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-annual-report-2022-2023
mailto:irpmailbox@gov.wales
https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales


Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 10-3-23 

1 of 5 

To: National Park Authority, 10 March 2023  
From: Jo Williams, Finance Manager and S151 Officer 
 

Estimates 2023-24 
 
 

Decision Required YES ☒ / NO  Agenda Item 9 

 

 

Recommendation 

Approve the 2023/24 revenue and capital estimates 

Note the projections provided for the following two financial years. 

 

 

Key Messages 

This paper follows the Draft Estimates paper presented to the authority at its 7 
February 2023 meeting. Its purpose is to provide the revenue and capital 
estimates for next financial year for consideration and approval. 
 
Appendix One provides a summary level of the Estimates for next year. The net 
budgets for core activities, revenue and capital projects are set out in this 
summary together with proposed funding and reserves forecast. 

 
  

Page 43

Agenda Item 9



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 10-3-23 

2 of 5 

Background 

 
A considerable amount of work has taken place since the draft estimates were 
prepared, particularly in relation to the salary estimates which are based on the latest 
payroll information available. Following careful consideration by the Executive Board 
salary budgets for four new posts are now included as follows: 
 
Business Development Manager  £59802 
Senior Planning Officer    £53882 
Depot Manager     £48855 (SLSP funded Year 1) 
Principal Accountant    £48855 
 
A further sum of £42210 is included for grade adjustments including for five senior 
service leads as part of the organisational development work which is designed to 
further cross team collaboration, address some capacity issues and improve our 
ways of working. 
 
The above amounts to just over £200k excluding the grant funded post as shown. 
Whilst this is a significant sum these roles are crucial in strengthening our financial 
management and planning services capacity and in resourcing the key need for 
effective fundraising as part of our income diversification strategy. 
 
Key points 

 
Core Activities 
 
Funding 
There is an estimated requirement for funding of £ 680k from the General Reserve in 
2023/24. This is based on a forecast reduction in the planned contribution for the 
current year of £70k. This would place the balance of the Reserve at £490k by  
March 31st 2024. 
 
Pay costs 

In common with other National Park authorities a 5% increase on the current year 
levels has been included in the 2023/24 pay budget. Additionally, 1% is included for 
a pension contribution increase as notified by the service provider. 
 
As previously reported, the authority carried a significant level of vacancies in the 
current financial year-2022/23. As we look forward to next year most of these posts 
are now filled and it is expected that, except for the new posts above, spending of 
most salary budgets will commence immediately at the start of 2023/24. 
 
Non Pay costs 

Since the Draft Estimates stage, a saving of HQ related costs of £36k has been 
secured through negotiations with the landlord. This comprises a reduction in the 
energy cost to be charged plus the benefit from a planned building usage reduction 
from the start of 2023/24.  
 
All other costs are as previously reported. 
 

Page 44



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 10-3-23 

3 of 5 

Income 
An additional amount of £30k is included for bank interest income as compared with 
the Draft Estimates. This is based on the current year level which is expected to 
continue for at least half of the next financial year. The amount set allows for a 
significant fall in our bank balances during the year ahead. 
Other income budgets have not changed since the Draft Estimates report. A 5% 
increase in planning fees is anticipated for the year ahead with an increase in 
applications expected as resolution of the phosphate issue progresses.  
 
As reported previously, some Car Parks income is anticipated to fall with an 
expected reduction of circa 7% from the current year level at Waterfalls Car Park. 
 
Projects 
 
The revenue and capital project information in Appendix 1 is mainly limited to 
2023/24 as it is difficult to predict future project funding opportunities and project 
delivery possibilities beyond that. The revenue reserves funding requirement of 
£252k is for 3 separate projects at Waterfalls Country Park and 80k for Ecology 
projects. Capital reserve funding of £48k is needed mainly for Access and Upland 
Improvement projects. 
 
The uncertain climate for project funding is well illustrated in the current financial 
year with a number of Welsh Government grants only recently being offered or 
confirmed. Often funds have to be spent within tight timeframes and decisions about 
staff contracts are impacted causing uncertainty for both the authority and the staff 
involved. 
 
Executive Board has set up a new Programme Board to support our project 
management in this environment. The Board will be responsible for project bid 
assessment in terms of fit with the authority’s corporate objectives, optimising 
funding decisions and ensuring best use of our resources in project delivery. The 
Programme Board will report its recommendations to the Executive Board following 
each meeting. 
 
The content in Appendix One for the two following financial years-2024/25 and 
2025/26 relate to Access Improvement Grant (revenue) and Sustainable Landscapes 
Sustainable Places (capital) both of which have been awarded on a three-year basis. 
 
Reserves 
 
The picture for the current financial year has become clearer and there is likely to be 
a small reduction in the £400k planned use of the General Reserve -estimated at 
£70k per Appendix 1. 
 
The requirement of £680k is significant and the estimated balance at the end of 
March 2024 is at the minimum recommended. However, this may not materialise as 
appointment to the new posts, if approved, will not start until after April with a partial 
impact on the year’s budgets.  
 

Page 45



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 10-3-23 

4 of 5 

Furthermore, it is the view of Executive Board that, whilst investment in the new 
posts will stretch our finances, were we not to take this step now there would be a 
greater cost in relation to the achievement of our improvement objectives in the 
medium term.  
 
The amounts for the earmarked revenue and capital reserves are also shown with 
their estimated contributions to support the project estimates. The reserves balances 
at the end of the current financial year will change as project outturns are determined 
and some current year allocations are likely to be rolled forward into next financial 
year. 
 
Relation to Authority Priorities 

 
The budget as set out will support the work programme outlined in the Corporate 
Plan (scheduled for publication 31 May 2023) by funding key staff and net project 
costs which are focused on continued delivery of the Authority’s objectives while 
maintaining corporate resilience and support capacity. 
 
Impact Analysis 

 
Financial – as set out in the report. 
 
Legal – budget approval is a statutory requirement.  
 
Diversity – no direct implications as a result of this report. 
 
Human Resources – as set out in the report. 
 
Sustainability – inherent in the budget principles. 
 
Risk 

 
Members will wish to note the level of risk associated with using the general reserves 
as set out in this report. However, it is the view of the executive team that without 
taking some risk and appointing to new posts, we will not be able to address our 
income diversification strategy which is crucial to realising our aims as set out in the 
National Park Management Plan.  
 
Conclusion and Next Steps 

 
These estimates will support the work programme outlined in the Corporate Plan, 
which will be brought to NPA for approval in early May 2023, so that it can be 
published in line with the 31 May deadline. 
 
Updates may be required once the Welsh Government settlement has been 
finalised. 
  

Page 46



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  NPA 10-3-23 

5 of 5 

Appendix One: 2022-26 Core and Project Estimates 

 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1    £000 CORE ACTIVITIES REVENUE PROJECTS CAPITAL PROJECTS RESERVES SUMMARY
DIRECTORATES 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 01.04.22 2022/23 31.03.23 2023/24 31.03.24

Estimate Projection Projection Estimate Projection Projection Estimate Projection Projection Balance Allocated Balance Estimate Balance
GENERAL 1500 330 1170 680 490

CHIEF EXEC. & COMMS. 945 973 988 NATURE & C. CHANGE
EXPENDITURE 382 75 75 1253 850 850 EARMARKED

M.O. &DEM. SERVICES. 424 437 443 INCOME -234 -75 -75 -1205 -850 -850 REVENUE 938 556 382 252 130
CAPITAL 0
UNAPPLIED 931 721 210 48 162

PLANNING & PLACE 1787 1841 1868 PLANNING & PLACE
EXPENDITURE 204 232

NATURE & C. CHANGE 1791 1845 1872 INCOME -100 -232

NET BUDGET 4947 5095 5172 FUNDING REQUIRED 252 0 0 48 0 0 3369 1607 1762 980 782

FUNDING FUNDING
W.G. GRANT 3109
UA LEVY 1037 EARMARKED
SLSP CONT. TO OHDS. 100 RESERVES 252
SLSP & LNP CONT. SALS. 21 CAPITAL
GENERAL RESERVE 680 UNAPPLIED 48
TOTAL 4947 0 0 252 0 0 48 0 0

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 16/12/2022 National Park Authority
	Minutes

	Minutes Public Pack, 07/02/2023 National Park Authority
	Minutes


	8 Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales - Annual Report
	Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales - Annual Report - Appendix One

	9 2023/24 Revenue and Capital Estimates, and Projections for the following two years 2024-26
	Core and Project Estimates 22-26 - Appendix One


